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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Trustful Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website (www.hkgem.com) for
at least 7 days from its date of posting and on the designated website of this Company at www.china-trustful.com.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors (the “Board”) of China Trustful
Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The revenue of the Group from our continuing operations for
the year ended 31 December 2019 decreased by 45.3% to
approximately HK$118,039,000 when compared with that of the
last year (2018: HK$215,696,000) as mainly the sales of goods
decreased under (i) the intense competition in the market and (i)
the effect of the de-consolidation of the Silverware Business.

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$12,729,000 representing a decrease of 83.2%
as compared with last year (2018: HK$75,940,000). The Group
recorded loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to
HK$104,589,000 (2018: profit HK$9,281,000).

In view of the global market uncertainties, the Group will closely
monitor the international and domestic market situations and
remain cautious on our portfolio management. At the same time,
our management team will continue to work hard to create the
best value to our shareholder via delivering products that exceed
customers’ expectation, while enhancing efficiency and focusing on
sustainable growth.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincerest

gratitude to our shareholders, board of directors, employees and
business partners for their outstanding performance.

Luo Huangshi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 February 2021
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Business Overview

For the year ended 31 December 2019, China Trustful Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) engage in the business of the research and
development, manufacture and sale of rechargeable batteries,
electric vehicles and related products and provision of related
services (the “Electric Vehicle Business”), the retail and
wholesale of luxury brand silverware, silver utensils and luxury
goods in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) (the “Silverware
Business”) and provision of marketing and management services,
sales and distribution of energy and petrochemical related
products, including but not limited to, LNG and LPG products,
and licensing of petroleum gas stations (the “Energy and
Petrochemical Business”).

Business Review

In relation to the Electric Vehicle Business and Energy and
Petrochemical Business (collectively referred to as the “Continuing
Operations”), during the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group recorded revenue of HK$118,039,000, representing a
45.3% decrease as compared with the same period in 2018 (31
December 2018: HK$215,696,000) and gross profit and gross profit
margin of HK$12,729,000 and 10.8% respectively (31 December
2018: HK$75,940,000 and 35.2% respectively). Combining with
other income and expenses, the Group recorded loss for the year
ended 31 December 2019 of HK$104,589,000 (31 December
2018: profit of HK$9,281,000) and other comprehensive income of
HK$1,202,000 (31 December 2018: loss of HK$33,468,000), being
exchange differences arising from translating foreign operations
during the year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company from
Continuing Operations was HK$104,377,000 as compared with a
profit of HK$7,315,000 for the same period last year; whereas basic
loss per share for both continuing and discontinued operations was
HK3.81 cents (31 December 2018: earnings of HK0.12 cents).
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The Group’s selling and distribution costs and administrative
expenses, in total, decreased from HK$57,606,000 for the same
period last year to HK$38,433,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has recorded
other expenses of HK$78,770,000 in relation to Silverware
Business. More information is set out in the section of below
“Silverware Business”.

In general, the Group’s result during the year ended 31 December
2019 has been decreased and our business were affected by
the intense competition in the market. Further description of the
business performances from our businesses are described below.

The Electric Vehicle Business is comprised of two divisions namely
the battery division and electric vehicle division. The battery
division is engaged in the manufacture and supply of rechargeable
lithium batteries, while the electric vehicle division is engaged in the
manufacture of electric vehicles and provision of related services
for the Electric Vehicle Business.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, our revenue from the
Electric Vehicle Business was mainly derived from the selling of
rechargeable batteries, auto parts for the electric vehicles and
electric bus system solutions and provision of relevant consultancy
services. Under the intense competition in the market, revenue
from Electric Vehicle Business was dropped. The Group has
been considering various strategies to counter and minimize the
contingent risks from the changing global business environment.
Our senior management has also been actively exploring projects in
relation to electric vehicles and electric bus system solutions.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
segment revenue of HK$39,784,000 (31 December 2018:
HK$174,164,000) in the Electric Vehicle Business, representing
33.7% of the Group’s total revenue generated from Continuing
Operations (31 December 2018: 80.7%). This segment
recorded segment profit of HK$4,918,000 (31 December 2018:
HK$22,054,000), and segment margin of 12.4% (31 December
2018: 12.7%).
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The Group will continue to engage in the vehicle business by
focusing on providing customized one stop solutions to customers
for the supply of vehicle components and parts in China. The major
products initially will include intelligent air purifier and sanitizer
(effective against COVID-19) and intelligent mobile multimedia
system. The Group has an experienced team of technical staffs
providing design, integration and modification services according
to customers’ requirements. The Group aims to provide a selection
of customized products to suit customers’ needs based on
self-design products as well as similar products available in the
market. The Group has aligned with third party manufacturers to
produce the finished products. Major customers include domestic
car manufacturers in China.

In 2019, the national and global economic were unstable. To cope
with the impact of this tough conditions, the Group has initiated
to participate the Energy and Petrochemical Business in order to
enhance and diversify the Group’s business prospect.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Energy and Petrochemical
Business recorded a revenue of HK$78,255,000, representing 66.3%
of the Group’s total revenue.

The Company has been reported by relevant staff that all the assets,
including but not limited to the books and accounting records,
vouchers, computers, company stamps, relevant stocks, etc., of
two subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC, namely #TERE4E
LEBRAT] (for identification purpose, Zhejiang Tong Yin Precious
Metal Operation Company Limited, (“Zhejiang Tong Yin”) and 1
MR EER AR AR (for identification purpose, Hangzhou Yin
Xin Investment Management Company Limited) (the “Records and
Documents”) were seized by the Ministry of Public Security of the
PRC as the Records and Documents were kept and stored in a
shared office with one of the resigned executive director, Mr. Zhang
Genjiang, who holds 49% equity interest of Zhejiang Tong Yin and
was arrested during the course of seizure of other businesses of
Mr. Zhang Genjiang. More information is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 February 2020.
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The Group has loss control on Zhejiang Tong Yin and Hangzhou
Yin Xin Investment Management Company Limited and accounted
for deconsolidated for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “De-
Consolidation”). Therefore, the Group has recorded other expenses
of HK$78,770,000 in relation to Silverware Business.

Management’s View on the Disclaimer of
Opinion

The management of the Company has given careful consideration to
the Disclaimer of Opinion and the basis of Disclaimer of Opinion and
has had ongoing discussion with the auditors when preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Regarding disclaimer of opinion nos. 1 to 6 as disclosed in this
financial statement, to the management’s best knowledge and
belief, the management understood that the limitation of scope
was due to such books and records seized by the Ministry of
Public Security of the PRC since January 2020 and lost due to
the departure of top management personnel including relevant
directors, legal representatives and finance manager. Regarding
disclaimer no. 7, the management is processing electric vehicle
development plans mentioned above to improve its financial
position, to provide liquidity and cashflow. However, the plans were
in process. There is no sufficient information to remove the material
uncertainty. As such, the Management understood and agreed with
the basis of the disclaimer of opinion.
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In order to address the disclaimer of opinion, the management had
used their best endeavours to reacquire the books and records
and financial information of these subsidiaries. However, it fails.
In December 2020, the management concluded that the Group
lost the control of these subsidiaries and deconsolidated these
subsidiaries. As discussed with the auditors, it is expected that
the deconsolidation of the deconsolidated subsidiaries proceeds
and is completed on or prior to 31 December 2020, the disclaimer
of opinion is expected to be removed in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2022, as
the financial information of deconsolidated subsidiaries would
also affect the corresponding figures in its consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2021 but would not
further affect its consolidated financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2022. The management is confident that the
electric vehicle development plans mentioned as above will be
successful to improve its financial position, to provide liquidity and
cashflow. The disclaimer of opinion no. 7 will be removed for the
year ending 31 December 2021.

Audit Committee’s View on the disclaimer of
Opinion

The auditors requested to perform full audit of subsidiaries as
follows for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019:

VMMEBREETEERAA, ((WWIRAERESCBLCEERA
A, (I EBRELEETEERRAA, (VEEBRELEEERA
g, VHRMNEKEESAEARQA, VIIAMNEHESHTEERA
A, VipAMETAEHEREERAR, VIPpIBEEKRERTIESR
RAT], (NEEEFERABHERFEARAT, (x) Ecological Green
Transportation Limited, (xi) Ecological Green Transportation Limited,
(xii) China Energy and Chemical Investment Limited, (xiii) Hong
Kong Trustful Energy and Chemical Limited, (xiv) Ultimate Growth
Investments Limited, (xv) Great Fortune Enterprise Company
Limited, and (xvi) Gulf Energy (China) Limited.

—

]
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The requested information included but was not limited to the
vouchers, invoices, bank statements and bank confirmations etc.
in relation to these subsidiaries. The Company had tried to provide
all available information to us. However, access to such books and
records was limited because such books and records were seized
by the Ministry of Public Security of the PRC since January 2020
and were lost due to the departure of top management personnel
including relevant directors, legal representatives and finance
manager.

The Company tried with many attempts but failed to contact the
former. In view of the above, the Company was unable to provide
sufficient evidence to us for the audit of these subsidiaries and,
accordingly, the auditors considered that they were unable to
obtain sufficient evidence and explanations to satisfy themselves
for the financial information of these subsidiaries as well as for the
completeness of the financial information of these subsidiaries.

The auditors draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of
HK$104,589,000 and a net cash outflow from operating activities
of approximately HK$78,953,000 for the year ended 31 December
2019 and events after the reporting period mentioned in note 28.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the disclaimer of
opinion and the management’s position concerning the disclaimer
of opinion and had also discussed with the auditors at the planning
stages and closing stages via teleconferences, by which it was
fully aware of the abovementioned background and reasons for the
disclaimer of opinion. The Audit Committee therefore concurred
with the views of the Management and the auditors.
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Removal of Disclaimer of Opinion

As discussed with the auditors, it is expected that the deconsolidation
of the deconsolidated subsidiaries proceeds and is completed on
or prior to 31 December 2020, the qualification is expected to be
removed in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2022, as the financial information of
deconsolidated subsidiaries would also affect the corresponding
figures in its consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2021 but would not further affect its consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2022.

Financial Review

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had current assets of
HK$534,956,000 (2018: HK$583,717,000) comprising cash and
cash equivalents of HK$938,000 (2018: HK$56,683,000), and
net current assets of HK$461,683,000 (2018: HK$510,221,000).
The Group did not have any bank borrowings, guarantee
and banking facilities, while the Group’s other borrowings
included amounts due to an ex-director of HK$7,072,000 (2018:
HK$30,000,000) and amount due to non-controlling interests of
HKS$nil (2018: HK$122,000). As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s
equity attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
HK$62,462,000 to HK$575,264,000 (2018: HK$637,726,000), which
was mainly due to the effect of the De-Consolidation of Silverware
Business.

The Group’s gearing ratio represented its total borrowings over the
equity attributable to owners of the Company. As at 31 December
2019, the Group had total borrowings amounted to HK$7,072,000
(2018: HK$30,122,000). The Group’s equity attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2019 amounted to
HK$575,264,000 (2018: HK$637,726,000). The Group’s gearing
ratio was therefore maintained at a low level of 1.2%, which was
lower than that at 31 December 2018 of 4.7%, as a result of the
repayment of amounts due to an ex-director.
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The Group’s current ratio, calculated based on current assets of
HK$534,956,000 (2018: HK$583,717,000) over current liabilities of
HK$73,273,000 (2018: HK$73,496,000), was at a healthy level of
7.30 times (2018: 7.94 times).

As at 31 December 2019, our trade receivables amounted to
HK$200,947,000, which was an increase of HK$17,160,000
compared to HK$183,787,000 as at 31 December 2018, our trade
payables as at 31 December 2019 also increased to HK$28,661,000
from HK$13,490,000 as at 31 December 2018. The significant
increase in these balances was mainly due to the outstanding
balances due from our customers/to our suppliers from the Electric
Vehicle Business. The Group granted credit terms of 180 days for
part of the outstanding balances.

Furthermore, the deposits, prepayments and other receivables of
the Group increased from HK$271,485,000 as at 31 December
2018 to HK$292,352,000 as at 31 December 2019.

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group amount to
HK$938,000,000 as at 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the issued share capital
of the Company increased from 2,675,424,685 shares of HK$0.02
each to 3,036,200,685 shares as a result of the completion of
placing shares. More information is set out in the Company’s
announcement date 24 June 2019 and 25 November 2019.

The Group continues to maintain a prudent approach in managing
its financial requirements. In the long run, the Group finances its
daily operations and future acquisitions from internally generated
cash flows and/or external debt and/or by equity fund raisings.

There was no outstanding convertible bonds as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.
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There was no outstanding share options as at 31 December 2019
and 2018.

There was no contingent consideration receivables and profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

There was no material connected transaction or related party
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2019 except the
exempt connected transaction of HK$7,072,000 (2018: connected
transaction of HK$30,000,000).

The effective tax rate for the year was 1.8% (2018: 33.8%), which
was for the tax rates applicable to the relevant jurisdictions ranging
from 0% to 25%.

The Group’s transactions, trade receivables, trade payables and
cash and cash equivalents are mainly denominated in United States
dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk. The directors of the
Company have a positive attitude to regularly monitor the Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange so as to reduce the foreign exchange
rate risk to a minimum level. To a larger extent, foreign exchange
risks were minimised via balancing the foreign currency monetary
assets versus the corresponding currency liabilities, and foreign
currency revenues versus the corresponding currency expenditures.
In light of the above, it was considered that the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risks was not significant and no hedging measure
had been undertaken by the Group.

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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As at 31 December 2019, save as disclosed above, no other assets
of the Group were pledged (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had material capital
commitments of HK$22,400,000 (2018: HK$22,400,000).

The Group did not recommend the payment of any dividend during
the year ended 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Nil).

There were no significant investment held as at 31 December
2019, and there were no material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Total staff costs for the year, including directors’ remuneration, was
HK$8,558,000 (2018: HK$15,085,000). The Group’s remuneration
practices are in line with the prevailing market practice and
are determined on the basis of performance, qualification and
experience of individual employee. The Group recognises the
importance of a good relationship with the employees by providing
competitive remuneration package to the employees including
salaries, allowances, insurance, discretionary bonus, share option
scheme and training for human resources upskilling.

Placing of New Shares under General Mandate

On 24 May 2019 (after trading hours), the Company entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent whereby the Company
agreed to place, through the placing agent, on a best effort basis,
a maximum of 100,000,000 new Shares to any number of placees
at a price of HK$0.53 per Placing Share. All the conditions set out
in the placing agreement had been fulfiled and completion of the
placing took place on 24 June 2019. An aggregate of 60,776,000
Placing Shares, representing approximately 2.22% of the
Company’s issued share capital immediately after the completion
on 24 June 2019, have been successfully placed to not less than
six placees at the placing price of HK$0.53 per placing share.
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On 5 November 2019 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into two subscription agreements with two subscribers, pursuant
to which the subscribers conditionally agreed to subscribe for,
and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total of
300,000,000 subscription shares (150,000,000 subscription shares
for each subscriber) at the subscription price of HK$0.050 per
subscription share. All the conditions set out in the subscription
agreement had been fulfiled and completion of the subscription
took place on 25 November 2019. An aggregate of 300,000,000
subscription shares, representing approximately 9.88% of the
Company’s issued share capital immediately after the completion
on 25 November 2019, have been successfully subscripted by two
subscribers at the subscription price of HK$0.050 per subscription
share (the “Second Placing”).

More information is set out in the Company’s announcement date
24 June 2019 and 25 November 2019.

During year ended 31 December 2019, approximate to
HK$46,410,000 was used as follows:

Intended use of the Net
Proceeds Raised

Net proceeds raised for the year
ended 31 December 2019
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HK$46,410,000
(the “Net Proceeds Raised”)

HK$22,150,000

Business
46,410,000 7T 22,150,000/ 7T
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HK$24,260,000
— general working capital
24,260,0007% 7T
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The total net proceeds of the Second Placing was settled by the
Company’s subsidiary in China on behalf.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of operations
or growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The
risk factors that could result in the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations or growth prospects are identified
as below, while there may be other risks and uncertainties in
addition to those identified below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

As the growth of traditional automobile market worldwide is
expected to slow down, more and more automobile manufacturers
enter into the green transportation and electric vehicle industry.
Market risk arises from the intensifying competitions of the Electric
Vehicle Business of the Group.

With an aim to become one of the market leaders in the green
transportation and electric vehicle industry, not only have we
engaged qualified managerial, operational and marketing team to
deal with the Electric Vehicle Business, in order to minimise the
market risk, the Group also builds our competitive edge in the
Electric Vehicle Business by being customer-oriented and provision
of tailor-made solutions to our customers.

The Group is exposed to regulatory risks, especially in the Electric
Vehicle Business, in relation to failure to comply with relevant laws
and regulations in financial, operational and environment aspects.
While there is no non-compliance of laws and regulations during
the year, the Group will remain sensitive to any changes in the
regulations, and respond to any changes to ensure our businesses
comply with the relevant policies.

Details of the financial risks are set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its businesses
and assets based in the PRC, further details of which are set out in
the paragraph “Foreign Currency Management” under the section
headed “Financial Review” above.
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In 2019, the national and global economic environments
was unstable and complicated, the economies faced a lot of
uncertainties including the trade war between the US and China.

Looking forward, the Group would continue to provide quality
services and to expand customer base into the industries it already
set foot in. In case of adverse market condition, we will pay close
attention to the market changes of the industries involved and
adjust our business strategies in a timely manner to avoid visible
risks. The Group will take risk management and risk investigation
as its paramount concerns, and improve its asset management and
team management abilities while enhancing the comprehensive
strength of the Group.

Significant event took place subsequent to the end of the reporting
period is shown in the note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Prospect

For the Electric Vehicle Business, based on the information
available to the new Board, the PRC subsidiaries operating the
Electric Vehicle Business have suspended their operation due to
the investigation by the Public Security, the Land Disposal and
departure of most of the officers and employees. The new Board
is still in the process of making enquiries with the Public Security
regarding the investigation, identifying former staff and gathering
information and documents in order to take control of the PRC
subsidiaries.

Despite the aforesaid, the new Board is determined to continue
to engage in the Electric Vehicle Business. The Company
considers that the prospects of electric vehicles in the PRC is
promising in view of favourable government policies and growing
market demands. The Group will focus on the supply chains in
the production of electric vehicles including but not limited to
manufacturing and supply of electric vehicle components and parts.

For the Energy Business, it is currently idle and the new Board is

in the process of evaluating the continued operation of the Energy
Business.
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board
is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the year
ended 31 December 2019. This report highlights the key corporate
governance practices of the Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public
accountability and corporate governance are beneficial for the
healthy growth of the Group, improving customer and supplier
confidence and safeguarding the interests of shareholders of the
Company.

Securities Transactions by Directors and

Relevant Employees

The Company adopted the model code for securities transactions
by the directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to compliance with
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for the
year.
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Board of Directors

The current Board is currently composed of five directors, two
being executive directors and three being independent non-
executive directors as set out below.

Mr. Luo Huangshi, Chairman
Mr. Tao Wah Wai Calvin

Mr. Hu Chao
Mr. Wong Lok Man
Mr. Lo Cheuk Fei, Jeffrey

The Board is responsible for the overall management and affairs
of the Company and to maximise returns for shareholders. The
day-to-day operations and management of the Company are
delegated to the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company.

The biographical details of the directors are set out in the section
“Biographies of Directors” of this annual report.

Disclosure of Changes in Information of Director
Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in
directors’ information since the date of the Annual Report 2018 is
set out below:

1. Mr. Fung Chi Kin was appointed as executive director on 1

March 2019 and resigned on 15 October 2019.

2. Mr. Wong Kin Fai was appointed as executive director on 21
June 2019 and resigned on 20 January 2020.

3. Mr. Zhang Genjiang resigned as executive director on 15
December 2019.

4. Mr. Jim Yiu Ming resigned as independent non-executive
director on 8 November 2019.
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10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Mr. Lai Wing Kwan was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 8 November 2019 and resigned on 17
July 2020.

Mr. Law Yiu Sang, Jacky was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 17 January 2020 and resigned on 13
March 2020.

Mr. Man Wai Lun was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 5 February 2020 and resigned on 9
November 2020.

Mr. Lo Wing Sang was appointed as executive director on 20
May 2020 and resigned on 30 July 2020.

Mr. Wong Ching Fai, William was appointed as executive
director on 3 June 2020 and resigned on 5 November 2020.
Mr. Law Yui Lun was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 17 July 2020 and resigned on 30 September 2020.
Mr. Luo Huangshi was appointed as executive director on 2

December 2020.

Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy resigned as independent non-executive
director on 4 December 2020.

Mr. Fei Jie resigned as executive director on 8 December
2020.

Mr. Tao Wah Wai Calvin was appointed as executive director
on 23 December 2020.

Mr. Hu Chao was appointed as independent non-executive
director on 23 December 2020.

Mr. Wong Lok Man was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 31 December 2020.

Mr. Lo Cheuk Fei Jeffrey was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 31 December 2020.

Mr. Ng Chin Ming, Stephen resigned as executive director on
28 February 2019.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

During the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019,
Mr. Fung Chi Kin and Wong Kin Fai as the former executive
directors were responsible for managing and smoothing business
operations of the Group while Mr. Fei Jie as the former chairman
was responsible for leading the Board in the overall strategic
management and business development of the Group.

With effect from 8 December 2020, Mr. Fei Jie resigned as
executive director, chairman and other positions in the Group. The
position of Chairman is currently held by Mr. Luo Huangshi.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed three independent non-executive directors representing
more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The functions of independent non-executive directors are primarily
to bring an independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conducts at board meetings.

Current independent non-executive directors have made an annual
confirmation of independence by reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all independent non-
executive directors were independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All the directors, including independent non-executive directors,
are appointed for terms of one year. All the directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, (i) any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election; and (ii)
at each annual general meeting, not less than one-third of the
directors then in office shall retire and every director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Relationships and Association among the
Directors

There was no relationships between members of the Board,
including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
During the year, the Company provides regular updates on the
business performance of the Group to the directors, so as to ensure
that they had appropriate understanding of the Group’s businesses
and of their duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors are continually updated on the latest development
regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.
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Board Diversity Policy

Recognising the benefits of having a diversified Board, the
Company adopts a board diversity policy and aims to achieve
diversity in the Board in order to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development for the businesses of the Group. Selection
of candidates for the members of the Board are made through the
consideration of a different aspects including age, gender, cultural
and ethnic background, professional qualification, skills, knowledge
and length of services. Besides the above aspects, the Nomination
Committee will consider whether the Board composition, as a
whole, has sufficient diverse expertise particularly in corporate
management, financial control, business development and human
resources management. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

Board Meetings Held and Attendance

The CG Code requires regular meeting of the Board be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such
Board meetings involve the active participation, either in person
or by telephone conference. Under code provision A.1.3 of the
CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular
board meeting to all directors to give all directors an opportunity
to attend. Certain regular Board meetings were convened with less
than 14 days’ notice to enable the Board members to react timely
and make expeditious decision making in respect of transactions
which were of significance to the Group’s businesses. As a result,
the Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than
required with the consent of all the directors for that time being. The
Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement of code
provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in future. Adequate and appropriate
information is circulated normally three days in advance of Board
meetings to the directors. In addition to the regular Board meetings,
the Chairman met with independent non-executive directors without
the presence of other executive directors.
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The attendance records of the directors at Board meetings and EEZRAEERITHNEECS S EZLEETE
Board Committee meetings held during the year is set out below: BEEgEMNEFEILHEINT:

Number of meetings attended/Eligible to attend!

HE/REREENEERAE
Remuneration Audit Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

Ezg FHZEE ENZEE REZAE

Executive Directors YirE=E
Mr. Fei Jie, former chairman (resigned on B4R %4 BT T/E

8 December 2020) (F2020F12 A8A R T) 12112 N/AT i B N/AT i B N/AZ i B
Mr. Fung Chi Kin (resigned on 55 B A (20195

15 October 2019) 10A158 & ) 6/12 N/AT 8 N/AT 8 N/AR i F
Mr. Wong kin Fai (resigned on T (#9854 (72020F

20 January 2020) 1R20B8 &) 6/12
Mr. Zhang Genjiang (resigned on ERITEA(R20195

15 December 2019) 12A15H & T) 1112 N/AT 8 N/AT 8 N/AT & F

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITEES

Mr. Jim Yiu Ming (resigned on ERBLE(R2019F

8 November 2019) 11ABHRME) 10112 2/3 2/3 2/3
Mr. Shen Ruolei (resigned on LA B % (R20205F

17 January 2020) 1R17RET) 12112 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy (resigned on Bt 0 5 4 (20204

4 December 2020) 12A488 1) 12112 3/3 3/3 3/3
Mr. Lai Wing Kwan (appointed on FBRIR %A (20195

8 November 2019 and resigned on HABHEZELR

17 July 2020) 2020 7A17HET) 2/12 0/3 1/3 0/3

1 Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the directors/ 1 RAFERER EFZEEREREFED
Board Committee members for the year (if such director was appointed or AHRNWMZESRAFERZE X TBEMLE
ceased to be a director/Board Committee member part way during the year) E/EEREENEB)BTNEHAH
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General Meetings Held and Attendance
The attendance records of the directors at general meetings held
during the Year is set out below:

ERTHRRREMEEBR
BERAEERTHRIA R R
5 mF

Number of meetings attended/
Eligible to attend!

HE/CEREENGREE
Annual General Special General
Meeting Meeting
BRRBERE BRENAE
Executive Directors HITES
*Mr. Fei Jie, former chairman EBRNEE RIEERE 1/1 0/0
Mr. Fung Chi Kin BEBEE 1/1 0/0
Mr. Wong Kin Fai TREBLEE 1/1 0/0
Mr. Zhang Genjiang BERILAE 0N 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES
Mr. Jim Yiu Ming ERALE 1/1 0/0
Mr. Shen Ruolei LEERE 11 0/0
Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy BEHIELAE 1/1 0/0
1 Number of meetings held during the year or during the tenure of the directors 1 RAFEHEEFRAFENTHANMZEER

(if such director was appointed or ceased to be a director part way during the
year)

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee comprised
all independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lai Wing
Kwan, Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy and Mr. Shen Ruolei. Mr. Sit Sai
Hung, Billy was the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the directors and senior management remuneration,
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Director and ensuring that no Director or
any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
Specific terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
published on the websites of the Company and the Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held meetings during the year to
review the remuneration package of the directors.
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee comprised all
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lai Wing Kwan,
Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy and Mr. Shen Ruolei. Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy
was the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has appropriate
professional qualifications and experience as required by the GEM
Listing Rules. Specific terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are published on the websites of the Company and the Exchange.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ monitoring and ensuring a proper relationship with the
Company’s auditors;

(b) reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual reports
and compliance with accounting standards, the GEM Listing
Rules, and legal requirements before submission to the Board;
and

(c) overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee held meetings during the year, to review the
Group’s quarterly and interim financial statements.

The current independent non-executive directors of the New
Board of the Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019,
to review the annual audit plan of the external auditors, to meet
and discuss with the external auditors about audit findings, and
to discuss with the Board about re-appointment of the external
auditor and recommended to the New Board the approval and
announcement of such financial information on 23 February 2021.

EIZELES

MR2019F12A31H BEXLZECHEESE
VIEMITES  BEELE BEtEHLE
ML BEEREMEK BEHELEERERE
BEexfE HAHEGEMLEMRARTHE
EEXERAER BERZEeNRES
EEFEBEBEHRNARA LB AT 2 8 -
ERZESNTERERTEUTNZIE:

(a) Wﬂi%ﬁﬁ$ Bl A2 2D B0 BE R 1

En}

b) RREXRESZHNEMAEENEZE -
REINEERE - LAREBT e -

GEM LR A FAEREN BN &
© EBEBARANMKEHBHE BRE

BREAREZERR -
EREZEENAFECETEE  UEH

AEBHNFERFHBBERSR -

EREZEENEESRIBLIIERNTES
DEMAEEBE Z2019F12A31B L F E
MEBEZTBRE  FRINEZEAMNE
EEAETE - R INEZEE - BINEZ
BT MBI ARETNRE THESY

A BRI BED R AR - I 20214
2R23REBHEF S ERAHALFHH

B

£

ANNUAL REPORT



Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee comprised all
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lai Wing Kwan,
Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy and Mr. Shen Ruolei. Mr. Lai Wing Kwan was
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to review the size, structure and
composition of the Board, identify suitably qualified individual for
appointment to the Board, assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the directors and
succession planning for the directors. The Nomination Committee
is also responsible for ensuring the Board comprises diversity of
perspectives appropriate for the Company’s healthy development.
The Nomination Committee considered that the Board has sufficient
diverse expertise, particularly in corporate management, financial
control, business development and human resources management,
for the Company’s businesses, while gender diversity is not directly
relevant to the quality of the Board. Specific terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are published on the websites of the
Company and the Exchange.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider
a variety of factors including without limitation the following in
assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

a.  Reputation for integrity.

b.  Qualifications including professional qualifications, skKills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

c.  Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments.

d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

e. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee may
consider other factors so to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

The Nomination Committee held meeting during the year to review
the size, structure and composition of the Board, the independence
of the independent non-executive directors and the suitability of the
directors proposed for re-appointment at the Company’s annual
general meeting, and make recommendations to the Board for the
directors newly appointed during the year.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code:

(@ developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
management of the Group;

(c) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the codes of conduct,
where applicable, to employees and the directors; and

(e) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in this report.
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Company Secretary

Any executive director will be the person to whom such external
service provider can contact with. The Company appointed Ms. Hui
Wai Man, Shirley (“Ms. Hui”) in 2019 as the company secretary of
the Company from an external secretarial services provider.

With effect on 8 November 2019, former executive director, Mr.
Wong Kin Fai has been appointed as company secretary to replace
the resignation of Ms Hui in 2019.

Ms. Li Lai Nar was appointed as company secretary on 21
September 2020 and resigned on 31 December 2020.

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung was appointed as company secretary on
31 December 2020.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2019, fees for audit and non-
audit services paid/payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the
auditors of the Company, amounted to HK$600,000 and HK$nil
respectively.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Group’s risk management process includes risk identification,
risk evaluation, risk management and risk control and review. The
Group’s risk management framework sets out the risk management
process as described below:

(@ The head of each businesses and functions of the Group,
including areas covering financial, operational, compliance
and risk management functions, is entrusted with duties
in identifying, evaluating and managing risks within its own
division regularly. Mitigation plans are implemented to manage
the risks after taking into account the objectives of each
businesses.

(b) The senior management is responsible for overseeing the
risk management and internal control activities of the Group
through regular meetings with each division to ensure principal
risks are properly addressed and any material internal control
defects are properly identified and well addressed.
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() The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
through regular meetings with the senior management. In
addition, the Audit Committee, taking into consideration of the
advices and opinions from the external professional internal
control consultant, is responsible for ensuring the sufficiency
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems through regular inspection and monitoring.

The systems are implemented to minimise the risk to which the
Group is exposed and is used as a management tool for the day-to-
day operation of business. The system can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

The Group does not have an internal audit function during the
review period. The Board has implemented an internal audit
function to review the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Company subsequent to the review period.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the
Handling and Dissemination of Inside

Information

The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements or circulars are not false
or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in
a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both
positive and negative facts.
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Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view. The responsibility of auditors in respect of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are set out in the independent
auditors’ report forming part of this annual report.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The
directors are aware that the loss and operating cash outflow for
the year ended 31 December 2019, and the deconsolidation of the
subsidiaries mentioned in note “Events after the reporting period” of
the result announcement, which indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern as referred to C.I.3 of the CG Code.
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Communications with Shareholders and

Investor Relations

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy to
maintain an on-going dialogue with its shareholders and investors
in a timely, open and transparent manner. The Board reviews
the policy on a regular basis to ensure effective communication
between the Company, its shareholders and investors.

The Board communicates with its shareholders and investors
through various channels. The Board meets and communicates with
shareholders and investors at annual general meetings and other
general meetings. Corporate communications (such as quarterly,
interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and announcements)
are sent to shareholders in a timely manner and are available on the
websites of the Company and the Exchange.

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Shareholders’ Rights

According to Bye-law 85 of the Company’s Bye-laws, a shareholder
of the Company (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at an annual general meeting of the
Company may propose a person for election as a director at such
meeting by lodging a notice in writing signed by such shareholder
of his intention to propose such person for election and a notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be
elected at the head office of the Company or the office of the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of the Company provided that the
minimum length of the period, during which such notices are given,
shall be at least seven days and that (if the notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election) the period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such meeting.
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Other than election at annual general meeting, pursuant to Bye-
law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws, shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition,
including election of directors, and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Shareholders can put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries shall
be in writing and sent by post to the headquarter and place
of business of the Company at flat C8, 12/F., Por Mee Factory
Building, 500 Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the company secretary of the Company.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Huangshi (“Mr. Luo”), aged 49, was appointed as an
executive Director on 2 December 2020 and appointed as the
Chairman of the Board on 9 February 2021. He is the founder
and chairman of E®R L A XER AR AF (Guangdong Beidou
Tianyun Technology Co. Ltd.*). Prior to that, Mr. Luo has been
engaged in the knitting and embroidery industry in China for over
13 years.

Mr. Tao, aged 29, obtained his Master of Business Administration
from Southwestern University in 2018, is currently the Director of
Premium Bright Corporate Advisory Limited. Mr. Tao has extensive
knowledge in corporate finance transactions in Hong Kong. He is
well experienced for working in mergers & acquisition, analysing
financial and market data,responsible for coordinating and
supporting integration planning for acquisitions, and taking deals
through the full process to successful completion.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hu Chao (“Mr. Hu”) was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company. Mr. Hu, aged 37, he obtained
a Bachelor Degree in Law from Hunan University of Technology
(formerly known as Zhuzhou Institute of Technology). Mr. Hu has
extensive experience in legal consultation and had been providing
consultancy services for various businesses in the PRC. Mr. Hu
currently serves as independent non-executive director of GT Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 263), the company listed on the
Main Board. Mr. Hu currently serves as independent non-executive
director of CL Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8098), the
company listed on the GEM Board. Mr. Hu was appointed as
executive director of Farnova Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8153), the company listed on the GEM Board, from 22 July 2016 to
14 December 2020.
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Mr. Wong Lok Man (“Mr. Wong”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Wong,
aged 38, obtained a Diploma of Business Administration from
Sydney Institute of Business and Technology in 2003 and Bachelor
of Commerce-Accounting from Macquarie University in 2005.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants with over 15 years of accounting and audit experience,
including, among others, as the chief financial officer and company
secretary of L & A International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8195)
from September 2014 to May 2016 and as the group financial
controller, joint company secretary and authorised representative
of Kaisun Holdings Limited (stock code: 8203) since August 2020,
the issued shares of both of which are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr.
Wong was appointed as an independent nonexecutive director
of China Financial International Investments Limited (stock code:
721) which are listed on main board of the Stock Exchange on 18
November 2020.

Mr. Lo Cheuk Fei Jeffrey (“Mr. Lo”) has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Lo,
aged 27, obtained his Master of Accounting and Finance from
University of Edinburgh in 2016, is currently the Finance Manager
of eLumen LED Lighting Solutions Company Limited. Mr. Lo has
extensive experience in auditing in Hong Kong. He is experienced
in the audit of manufacturing and consumer business industry,
analyzing financial and market data and familiar with the Hong Kong
Accounting Standard and Hong Kong Standard of Auditing.
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The directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

Results

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 57 to 58 to this annual report.

Dividend

No special dividend was paid during the year (2018: nil). The
directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year (2018: nil).

Business Review

Further discussion and analysis of the activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to this annual report and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 18 to this annual report. These sections
form part of this directors’ report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

With an aim to become a strong market player in the green
transportation and electric vehicle industry, the Group leads
by example by placing strong emphasis on the environmental
impact caused by the Company’s operation and have established
appropriate environmental management systems tailored to the
nature of our businesses. The Group adheres to a green production
process, including handling three wastes from factories and
strictly complying with national and local environmental laws and
regulations. As for our daily office operations, the Group also
encourages controlling energy consumption in terms of employees’
daily behaviors and equipment management.

Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and our
relationship with various stakeholders are covered by a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance report which will be available
at the websites of the Company and the Exchange in due course as
soon as possible.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and

Regulations

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group, such as the national and
local environmental laws and regulations, such as the % A R £
M BR 15 1R & 7% (literally translated as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China) and the regulations of
environmental protection of the Zhejiang Province.

However, as announced by the Company, all the assets including
but not limited to the books & accounting records, vouchers,
computers, company stamps, relevant stocks, etc, of two
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC (the “People’s Republic of
China”), namely #TITBIRE S BLLHER QA (for identification
purpose, Zhejiang Tong Yin Precious Metal Operation Company
Limited (“Zhejiang Tong Yin”) and fi /iR Z R EE R BR A A (for
identification purpose, Hangzhou Yin Xin Investment Management
Company Limited) (the “Records and Documents”) were seized
by the Ministry of Public Security of the PRC as the Records and
Documents were kept and stored in a shared office with one of the
resigned executive director, Mr. Zhang Genjiang, who holds 49%
equity interest of Zhejiang Tong Yin and was arrested during the
course of seizure of other businesses of Mr. Zhang Genjiang (the
“Special Circumstance”). The Special Circumstance had certain
impacts on (1) the temporarily suspension of operation of the
Group’s silverware business; and (2) the annual audit and result of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers

Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staffs are reasonably
remunerated and also continues to improve, regularly review
and update its policies on remuneration, benefits, occupational
health and safety. The Group maintains a good relationship with
its customers and suppliers. The Group carries out effective
communication with customers, with an aim to provide better
services for the customers. The Group cooperates with its suppliers
to achieve the synergetic effects.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 61 to 63 to this annual report and note
24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$434,213,000 (2018: HK$411,426,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.
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Information about major customers FERXPFER
Revenue from customers for the years ended 31 December 2019 & P K & £20194F K2018512A31H 1k F
and 2018 contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group & & A& B % 3 48 It A10% A £ &) B Bt a0

are as follows: 1S
2019 2018
20194 20184F
Reporting segments HK$’000 HK$'000
bl FHET FET
Customer A (note i) Electric Vehicle Business
BPA (M FD EHTEER - 111,564
Customer B (note i) Electric Vehicle Business
BEFEB(H i) BERAIEEK - 35,822
Customer C (note ii) Electric Vehicle Business
BFC (M atii) BERAIEEK 17,600 —
Notes: W&t -
(i) Revenue derived from Customer A and B did not contribute 10% or more to the (i) H E2019F12A31HILEFE  REREFPANE R
Group’s total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2019, BEU A ST AR E AR A KT BB B10% °
(ii) Revenue derived from Customer C did not contribute 10% or more to the (i) HZE2018F12A31BILFE  RETEFCHKA
Group’s total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2018. HAEEBWANERTEBREI0% ©

Except as disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10% or B E X BEEN RREEE  HEH
more of the Group’s total revenue for both years. HEFPAEAESBEBUI AT RIO%BK A K

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or &&EE - HEZHE AN T MIFEEZEEH
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the  # A AN &) B% 7N #8 1B 5% 89 AN &) f% B R
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had REIERZETEZTFLHAEEM#ER -
any interest in these major customers.

Directors !
The directors during the year and up to the date of this annual WRAFENEERFERGAHNEENT
report are as follows:

Mr. Luo Huangshi, Chairman (appointed on 2 December 2020) SR 2t A - EfE (R2020F12 A2 E & 1)

Mr. Tao Wah Wai, Calvin (appointed on 23 December 2020) BE #E 3R 50 4 (72020412 A23 R EZ 1)

Mr. Fei Jie (resigned on 8 December 2020) BNFGE (FA2020F12 F8HEHE)

Mr. Ng Chin Ming Stephen (resigned on 28 February 2019) HRBEA (7201942 F28HEE)

Mr. Zhang Genjiang (resigned on 15 December 2019) FRLHEA (FR2019512 A15BEHT)

Mr. Fung Chi Kin (appointed on 1 March 2019 and IR (R2019F3A1HEZTE
resigned on 15 October 2019) W H2019F 108158 ET)

Mr. Wong Kin Fai (appointed on 21 June 2019 and TREBALE (FR2019F6A21BER T
resigned on 20 January 2020) I FA202049F1 A20 B EHT)

Mr. Lo Wing Sang (appointed on 20 May 2020 and BEOK A S (FA202055 A20HEER T -
resigned on 30 July 2020) I 7202047 A30B BHT)

Mr. Wong Ching Fai, William (appointed on 3 June 2020 and BHIBEAE (R2020F6A3HE LT -
resigned on 5 November 2020) W 2020511 A5HEHT)
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Mr. Hu Chao (appointed on 23 December 2020)

Mr. Wong Lok Man (appointed on 31 December 2020)

Mr. Lo Cheuk Fei, Jeffrey (appointed on 31 December 2020)

Mr. Jim Yiu Ming (resigned on 8 November 2019)

Mr. Sit Sai Hung, Billy (resigned on 4 December 2020)

Mr. Shen Ruolei (resigned on 17 January 2020)

Mr. Lai Wing Kwan (appointed on 8 November 2019 and
resigned on 17 July 2020)

Mr. Law Yiu Sang, Jacky (appointed on 17 January 2020 and
resigned on 13 March 2020)

Mr. Man Wai Lun (appointed on 5 February 2020 and
resigned on 9 November 2020)

Mr. Law Yui Lun (appointed on 17 July 2020 and
resigned on 30 September 2020)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, not less than one-
third of the directors then in office shall retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Biographical details of the directors are set out on pages 35 to 36
under the section headed “Biographies of Directors” of this annual
report.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute by way of (i) cash
or (ii) shares as may be determined by the board of directors of
the Company from time to time. The profit distribution policy of the
Company is:

(@) Profit distribution policy of the Company shall achieve
continuity, stability and sustainability;

(b) The Company targets a payout ratio with balance on
distribution of profits and profits retained for business
operation and future development;

(c)  Profit distribution of the Company shall take into account:

() the earnings per share of the Company;

(i) the reasonable return in investment of the investors and
the shareholders in order to provide incentive to them
to continue to support the Company in their long-term

development;

(i) the financial conditions and business plan of the
Company; and

(iv)  the market sentiment and circumstances.
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Remuneration Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
reference to the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
reference to the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to the directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior

Management
The Board considers the directors to be the senior management of
the Company.

Details of the emoluments of the directors are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ Interest in Transactions, Arrangement

or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in note 13 and amount due to an ex-director/
director for the year end 31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

As at 31 December 2019, none of the directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause a significant competition with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have with the Group.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

All of the executive directors and independent non-executive
directors have entered into service contracts with the Company.
The term of appointment of each director was announced by the
Company's announcement in Exchange's website. The term of
appointment of each director is renewable by mutual agreement of
both parties unless terminated by not less than one months’ prior
written notice in writing to the other party. All the directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s
annual general meeting at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

None of the directors, including the directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Permitted indemnity Provision and Directors’

and Officers’ Liability Insurance

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the directors is currently in force and
was in force throughout the year.

Pursuant to Article 164(1) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which may incur in connection with the executive of their
duty provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of fraud or dishonesty of the above persons.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
entire or primary business of the Company has been entered into or
existed during the year.
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Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Contracts

of Significance

To the best knowledge of the directors, no contract of significance
had been entered into between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries during the Year.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of

the Company or any Associated Corporation

As at 31 December 2019, the interests of the directors in the share
capital of the Company which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) (including interests which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Exchange were as follows:

(a) Interest in the shares of the Company

ERIRERNERED R

BESMAAM  RAFE - NAF S ET M
BARABERARNAREEFMMBERRZ
ZRRRFTZERMEREL °

BEERARREE AR EE IR

7~ MR R ESER SOK
=)

MR2019F12A831H  EE R AR AR A A
HEREEFRKBEEG(FBEEDE57
E)NEHRPEHKRD ] EXVIEFETRESD
HNBEMEARARRLRBEIITHEZD(BIER
BEAFARBEKNBBIEXEEREIEX
BEHRENER)  XIBREEHFRBEKRD
FEIE21GF BRSNS G T B i M A= -
R & GEM £ 1 48 A 555,485 5.6714k /A A
GARNARBRATHESEET

(a) RELERGH E 2
Approximate
percentage of the
existing issued
Number of share capital of the

Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held Company
EAARBRBEE T

=} B EntE FrERGOEE REANBHED L

Mr. Fei Jie Corporate interest (Note 1) 811,950,000 26.74%

BAREE NEVE R (A1)

Mr. Zhang Genjiang Corporate interest (Note 2) 528,809,327 17.42%

ERIIEE NRES (B iE2)
Note 1: These shares are held by associated corporations King Full Inc Limited and

Sure Gold Ventures Limited.

Note 2: These shares are held by an associated corporation Top Bliss Holdings
Limited.
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(b) Interest in the shares of associated corporations

(b) R B LB R G

Name of Capacity/ Number of Percentage of
Director associated corporation Nature of interest shares held shareholding
BEx HEEEEB g £33 ¥ iR 12 8B 5 B L i
Mr. Fei Jie King Full Inc Limited Corporate interest & 50,000,000 100%
beneficial owner (Note 1)
ENAHE BEERAR RAEEREREEA
(K71
Sure Gold Ventures Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 100 100%
EEERARRA ERBEBAMN T
Mr. Zhang Genjiang ~ Top Bliss Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 1 100%
ERIEE ERERARAT ExEBA
MIBEESCBEERRAA Corporate interest (Note 2) N/A (Note 2) 49%
(Zhejiang Tong Yin Precious Metal
Operation Company Limited*)
(“Zhejiang Tong Yin”)
MIBRESBRLEERLA DAl (M it2) NER B E2)
([ TR
Note 1: King Full Inc Limited is 90% (45,000,000 shares) directly owned by Sure  ffi7: BEAR QAP HHTESEEERAARE

Gold Ventures Limited and is 10% (5,000,000 shares) directly owned by Mr.
Fei Jie. Sure Gold Ventures Limited is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Fei Jie.

Note 2:  Zhejiang Tong Yin is 49 % owned by #7T 2 1= 5 i% & E A& R 2 & (Zhejiang

Zhisin Holding Group Limited*), which is in turn 60% owned by Mr. Zhang
Genjiang. Zhejiang Tong Yin is a subsidiary of the Company and is thus an
associated corporation of the Company.

*for identification purposes only

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
directors of the Company had an interest or short position in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which he was taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which was required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or pursuant to the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Exchange.

AN % £ H % B90%(45,000,0000 8% ) &
10%(5,000,000/% & ) * fiE £ IR ER A &)
HERNLE2EHSR -

Hretz: HITBBRENIZEEREBERARAER
49%  MANTZERREREFRABTASTRIT
FEHEARB0% - HTBRRBARAHHELRA
RARARRNEBER -

Y EAR#FIE A

Br EXCER#E B E SN - 2019412431 » K
NEIMESHERRRF ST M EE (E
ERBHFRBEEAEXVE) B EMERD
HERNKEFTHBEREZESFRBEEK
BIEXVERETR B8N M BME AR R
MR EmIAR (BREBREZESFLHE
FEOBBEXEEREEXIRABERNE
mRAKE) RIER SR A EKH F352
IRBRENZIEMM E MRSk
o R 1% GEM £ 1 R Y 555.48E5.67{ 72 A
EARNBIRBZFMERIORE ©
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect
of certain directors, the following shareholders had notified the
Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital of the

Company.

Ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company

FEREARDHER

MR2019F12A31H ' A AERIBEZFALHE
BB TFEMNETERRELMAT
BREXFBEERBE TESNESIN M
THREEBINARARARRNEEITR
AhHEBERBER -

ERAKEBEKRREBEEK G

Approximate
percentage of

the existing
issued share

Number of capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares held Company

ERARRE
EEITRAE

BRREB L% §:3:3-1 FrERGEE NN BESL

King Full Inc Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 811,950,000 26.74%

BEERAR EmBEBANMF)

Sure Gold Ventures Limited Corporate Interest (Note 1) 811,950,000 26.74%

E&EIRARAT NRES (B at1)

Mr. Fei Jie Corporate interest (Note 1) 811,950,000 26.74%

BNEE NRES (B at1)

Ms. Wu Wen Interest in spouse (Note 2) 811,950,000 26.74%

RELZL REBe RS (F:72)

Top Bliss Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 528,809,327 17.42%

ERIERBRAFR BEmBEAAMNZ3)

Mr. Zhang Genjiang Corporate interest (Note 3) 528,809,327 17.42%

ERTRE
*for identification purposes only

Notes:

REHE S (M iE3)

Y EARBEFIA

e

1. King Full Inc Limited is 10% directly held by Mr. Fei Jie and the remaining 90% 1.
directly held by Sure Gold Ventures Limited. Sure Gold Ventures Limited is
in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Fei Jie. Accordingly, Sure Gold Ventures Limited
and Mr. Fei Jie are deemed to be interested in the 811,950,000 shares of the
Company held by King Full Inc Limited by virtue of the SFO.
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2. The shares are held by King Full Inc Limited, the entire issued share capital of
which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Fei Jie, the spouse of Ms. Wu Wen.
Accordingly, Ms. Wu Wen is deemed to be interested in the entire 811,950,000
shares by virtue of the SFO.

38 The entire issued share capital of Top Bliss Holdings Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhang Genjiang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Genjiang is deemed to be interested in the entire 528,809,327 shares held by
Top Bliss Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no other
persons had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO,
or otherwise notified to the Company.

Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme which has become
effective on 22 December 2010 (the “Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.

On 27 May 2015 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted
share options (the “Share Options”) to the eligible persons
within the Group (the “Grantees”) pursuant to the Company’s
share option scheme launched on 22 December 2010, subject
to acceptance by the Grantees. The Share Options entitle the
Grantees to subscribe for a total of 15,000,000 ordinary shares
with nominal value of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
upon exercise of the Share Options in full. The exercise price of the
Share Options granted of HK$1.17 per share represent the highest
of (i) the closing price of HK$1.17 per share on the Date of Grant; (ii)
the average closing price of HK$1.04 per share for the five business
days immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of HK$0.10 per share. Details of the Grant of Share Options
was set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 May
2015. 7,500,000 options had been exercised and gross proceeds of
HK$8,775,000 was received from exercise of these options. Upon
the subdivision of shares from par value of HK$0.10 each into five
subdivided shares of par value of HK$0.02 each which became
effective on 4 May 2016, the exercise price and the number of
outstanding options were adjusted to HK$0.234 and 37,500,000
options respectively in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme. On 18 May 2018, the 37,500,000 options
had been exercised and gross proceeds of HK$8,775,000 was
received from exercise of these options. There were no outstanding
share options as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

2. HEBRGEBEARATNNA THEEERA
AMEHERTRAGEREE(RELLHR
BFERERS - Bt BEIHRAEED -
SE L+ RIB AR 2 H811,950,0008 B 15 5
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Directors’ Rights to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

Save as the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed

Securities of the Company
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

Connected and Related Party Transactions
During the year, save for the connected transaction described
under the sub-section headed “Financial Review — Connected
Transaction” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report, the Group has not entered into
any significant connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the requirement
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this report, based on information publicly available
to the Company and to the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float.
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be informed in due
course, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting of the Company, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. The Company will make
further announcement of closure of register of members in due
course.

Corporate Governance

A report on corporate governance of the Company is set out on
pages 19 to 34 under the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements for each of the two years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited.

On behalf of the Board

Luo Huangshi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 February 2021
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ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA TRUSTFUL GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
China Trustful Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 57 to 123,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and whether the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide
a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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Due to the insufficiency of supporting documentation and
explanations for accounting books and records in respect
of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018, we were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the following income and expenses
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 and the
assets and liabilities as at those dates, and the segment
information and other related disclosure notes in relation to the
Group, as included in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group, have been accurately recorded and properly

accounted for in the consolidated financial statements:

Income and expenses for the years #HZ12H31HIFFERA R -

ended 31 December:
Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Interest revenue

Other incomes

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

(Loss)/profit from operation
Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expenses

(Loss)/profit for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation

Loss for the year from discontinued
operation

(Loss)/profit for the year

FEKERE
A
BHE KA

E 7

A B A
H b Y &5
HENMD
THRAX
H Al B X

i 5 2

RELEXKZ(BE)HEF
B & A

BRBLAT (B E) 8T
PSR X

REFELEXB2ER(BR)
i 7

ERIEEEXER

KEERIEKEXBZFAER

FROER)BEA

ERECERZBAR:
2019
20194
HK$’000
FET
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MR AR &E&EE =20199F %2018
F12A3MBLEFE 225 R E &8k
ZERAXGRBEEITR
HITBEARFUSEEEATNESE
20194 K2018F12 A31H L F & 2 |
ARBAYERZEBHzEEREGRE -
LA Ko 5 38 & B K H b £ Eﬁlﬁ%
ZHEBEENRZ( E£E
WEMFHERELE \ﬁA%%ﬁ%

£ &=
= ch

SRR

2018
20184
HK$'000
FET

215,696
(139,756)

75,940
1,705
1,869

(1,112)
(37,966)

40,436

40,436
(6,960)

33,476

(4,620)

28,856

FH



2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREM MW (F8) (B
for the year (after tax): Bi&) -
ltem that may be reclassified to profit HEAJEEFHEEE R Z2IEA
or loss:
— Exchange differences on translating — R E BN EREL 2 EH =
foreign operations L 1,202 (33,468)
Total comprehensive loss forthe HR2HEEEBESE
year (86,987) (4,612)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEREL(ER),BR:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RABHEER A
— Continuing operations — BELEER (87,977) 26,890
— Discontinued operation — BERIEEEER - (4,355)
(87,977) 22,535
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A =
— Continuing operations — BRBKEEY (212) 6,321
(88,189) 28,856
Total comprehensive loss forthe FREGZHEEHALE:
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRAREA A
— Continuing operations — BRBEREES (86,775) (4,405)
— Discontinued operation — EREREER — (4,355)
(86,775) (8,760)
Non-controlling interests FE 4 IR e =
— Continuing operations — BELEER (212) 4,148
(86,987) (4,612)
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2019 2018
2019%F 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets and liabilities as at RI12A31AZEEREE:
31 December:
Non-current assets kRBEE
Intangible assets mREEE 6,690 7,621
Property, plant and equipment WE - BREKRERE 71,993 96,220
Interest in leasehold land THE L ER - 19,419
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 18,720 —
Deferred tax assets EERTBE E 1,599 1,599
Prepayment for property, plant and Y - REREEZENRE
equipment 9,600 9,600
108,602 134,459
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 5E8 40,719 71,645
Trade receivables H 5 W IR 200,947 183,787
Other receivables, deposits and HipElRiE - B4 LENZE
prepayments 290,650 269,116
Amount due from a related company & Ug — [ B8 5& A &) 3 18 - 117
Bank and cash balances RIT MR 2 4 853 51,814
533,169 576,479
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M &R IE 43,113 20,600
Contract liabilities EHEaE - 1,822
Amounts due to non-controlling &~ FE 42 A% 4 25 3R 1B
interests — 107
Current tax liabilities BIHAT{IE & E 16,127 19,855
59,240 42,384
Net current assets RBEEFRH 473,929 534,095
Net assets EEFH 582,531 668,554
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No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves
as to the existence and completeness of the disclosures of
commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves
as to the existence, accuracy and completeness of the
disclosures of the related party transactions for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 and balances as at
31 December 2019 and 2018 as required by Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 24 (Revised) “Related Party Disclosures”.

Except for share capital and share premium, no sufficient
evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves as to the
movements and balances of reserves as included in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves
as to the cash flows as included in the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the two years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves
as to the accuracy and completeness of the disclosures
in relation to the financial risk management, directors’
and employees’ emoluments, (loss)/earnings per share,
subsidiaries and operating leases commitments as disclosed
in notes 6, 13, 15, 26 and 27.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 6
above might have a significant consequential effect on the Group’s
financial performance and cash flows for the two years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 and the financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018, and the related disclosures thereof
in the consolidated financial statements.
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We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss
of HK$104,589,000 and a net cash outflow from operating
activities of approximately HK$78,953,000 for the year ended
31 December 2019 and events after the reporting period
mentioned in note 28. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the successful outcome that restructuring plans to improve
its financial position, to provide liquidity and cash flows.
The consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the failure to complete
restructuring plans to improve its financial position, to provide
liquidity and cash flows. We consider that the material
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements. However, in view of the extent of
the uncertainty relating to the successful completion of
restructuring plans to improve its financial position, to provide
liquidity and cash flows, we disclaim our opinion in respect of
the material uncertainty relating to the going concern basis.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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VA BEREEERREERDESR
REREUREZMBRAZEATR
FTBESNERAZE TERAE EX
THREEERGAETFRERTDEE -
A ERARERBDESRASRK
EUREVBERAZEA AR 2K
ERZAEEE  BEETHREHEEE
EHE S AN ETHEBRRER -

EXxFAERBEEESAMAS((EES
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SEREBERLLENRN YEERABATR
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BERHFLEE HHEEGERNT
RITE -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 23 February 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Interest revenue

Other incomes

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

(Loss)/profit from operation

Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expenses

(Loss)/profit for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation

Loss for the year from discontinued

operation

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year (after tax):

[tem that may be reclassified to profit

or loss:

— Exchange differences on translating

foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the

year

FESEXR
A

E7

i S A

H Al 1 25
HENMDHMAX
TR X

H i i <

RELEXRK 2
(& 1]), &

BRBLAT (B E) R A
ISR X

REFHEEEXRK 2
FRER)HEH

ERIEEEER
REERIEREXT 2
FARIE

FRUER)EA

FREMEEKE(BE)

(BRBL#E) :
HRERAIGEEHFDEE
Bm A :
- BMEBIEBELEZ
PE i E R

FREEBRAHE

B Z2019F 12A31H 1 F/&

Notes

iog4

10

11

12

2019 2018

20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FE T
215,696
(139,756)

75,940
1,960
2,217

(2,057)

(55,549)

22,511
(1,915)

20,596
(6,960)

13,636

(4,355)

9,281

(33,468)

(24,187)
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2019 2018
2019% 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FEr
(Loss)/profit for the year FRESL(ER),BR
attributable to:
Owners of the Company AKRAREEA
— Continuing operations — BELEED (104,377) 7,315
— Discontinued operation — ERIEEEET = (4,355)
(104,377) 2,960
Non-controlling interests FETE R A
— Continuing operations — FELEER (212) 6,321
(104,589) 9,281
Total comprehensive loss for the SFRELMEZEEEALRE:
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company AKRRHEEB A
— Continuing operations — BELEER (103,175) (23,980)
— Discontinued operation — BRILEEETR - (4,355)
(103,175) (28,335)
Non-controlling interests FEE R HE =
— Continuing operations — FEREER (212) 4,148
(103,387) (24,187)
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(ER) BAGEMW)
(HK$ cents) 15
Continuing and discontinued BERERIEEEER
operations
— Basic — &R (3.81) 012
— Diluted — &8 (3.81) 0.12
Continuing operations SIS E TS
— Basic — BER (3.81) 0.30
— Diluted —#8 (3.81) 0.29
Discontinued operation BRI T
— Basic — ER N/AF & A (0.18)
— Diluted — 58 N/AR & H 0.17)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

B Z2019F12 5310 IF F &

2019 2018
20196 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
oA FET FETT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Intangible assets | EE 16 6,690 7,621
Property, plant and equipment Y BB REE 17 74,916 100,170
Interest in leasehold land THE R - 19,419
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 18 20,564 =
Deferred tax assets RIERRTEE E 19 1,599 1,599
Prepayment for property, M- BMEIRREZ
plant and equipment SEENE /] 9,600 9,600
113,369 138,409
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 40,719 71,645
Trade receivables B 5 FE W R IB 20 200,947 183,787
Other receivables, deposits and HiEKRZRE  Be Rk
prepayments T8 BOIE 292,352 271,485
Amount due from a related company & Ux — & B8 E R 7 KB 21 - 117
Bank and cash balances w17 RIB S E R 938 56,683
534,956 583,717
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b &~ 5UE 22 57,146 21,697
Contract liabilities EHEE - 1,822
Amount due to a director B —RESEHIE 21 - 30,000
Amounts due to non-controlling FE 151 I 12 B% A 25 SRR
interests 21 - 122
Current tax liabilities FNEARI I B R 16,127 19,855
73,273 73,496
Net current assets REBEEFE 461,683 510,221
Net assets EEFH 575,052 648,630
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2019 2018
2019%F 20184F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
N3 FETT FET
Capital and reserves EXR®E

Share capital fig A& 23 60,724 53,508
Reserves i 24 514,540 584,218

Equity attributable to owners of the KRRHEB AELER
Company 575,264 637,726
Non-controlling interests EERER (212) 10,904
Total equity A 575,052 648,630

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 123 were
approved and authorised for issue by Board of directors on 23

February 2021 and are signed on behalf of by:

FE57E1238 K ir A B 75 2k & 1202142 A

WBAEE=SHERRETNE

BEEREREEF:

Ridz= Nl

Luo Huangshi

X2
Director

EF
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Tao Wah Wai Calvin
Pl 32
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF MmEEREER
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & F2019F 12 A31H I F &

Attributable to owners of the Company

FDRERAEL
Share Retained
based- Convertible  Statutory profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital Merger ~ payment  Translation Capital bonds general (Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  contribution reserve reserve loss) Total interests equity
ik #E &
v &% A UBBRER a8 i3 4 fi% -# E/ FER

it i i ] B 2fRRE B B e B (RiHER) B B8 BEEE
S0 KO0 HKSO0  HKSO HKSODD  HKSOO0 HKSOMD HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOM HKSOD HKSUD HKSOWO
T 7T T 7 7 71 77 AT AT T 7T i 7
Mote q) Note Note g) Note d) Note ) MNote ] ot g Note )
(hia) (k) (i) i) (Hiite) i) () (W)

At 1 January 2018 R018EI AR 4304 439575 195 1,083 2,565 8,213 12,144 9882 - 86,938 603,549 49133 662,682
Impact on initial applicafion of BRERERIEREE

HKFRS 9 205778 = = = = = = - - - 15 15 - 15
At 1 January 2018 (Restated) R0I8F1AIA (HES) 43004 439575 155 1,083 2,565 8,213 12,144 9,842 - 86,963 603,564 49133 652,697

Total comprehensive (oss)income ~ ER27 (§18) /A28

for the year - - - - ] - - - 290 B 48 e
Exercise of share options fEERE 750 10,590 - - (2569) - - - - - 8775 - 8775
Disposalof subsicaries HENEAR - - (155) (1039 - - - - - 1168 - - -
Conversion of convertilebonds ~ ERTARER 9734 53970 - - - - - (10652 - - 53,052 - 53,082
Release of deferred tax upon REATARESMER

conversion of convertble bonds  BRERE - - - = - - - 810 - - 810 - 810
Dividend paid toron-controling - ER T3 ARERNRE

Interests - - - - - - - - - - - 42,515 (42,515
Transferto statutory generalreserve  EAZ Kk - - - - - - - - 5693 5,699) - - -
Acquisiton of additonal interestin ~ WOEMBARZE)IER

a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (140) (140) 138 @
At 31 December 2018 RO18F12A31R 53,608 504,135 - - - (23,022) 12,144 - 5693 85,268 637,726 10904 648,630
At 1 January 2019 RO9EAIR 53,508 504,135 - - - (23,022) 12,144 - 5,693 85,268 637,126 10,904 648,630
Total comprehensive incomeloss) ~ ERZERN/ () 28

forthe year = - - - - 1,202 o o - oaaT (10817 Ry (10338)
Disposal of subsidaries HEKBLR - - - - - - - - (5,699) - (5693 (10904  (16597)
Issue of shares on placement RERETHA 7216 30,190 - - - - - - - - 46,406 = 46,406
At 31 December 2018 R0 0ANE U 535 = = - g M = - (e S Py ST
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Notes:

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the share premium
of the Company can be used in paying up unissued shares of the Company to
be issued to members of the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

Capital reserve arose from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries
from non-controlling interests. It represents the difference between the
consideration paid and the net assets of the relevant companies shared by
non-controlling interests.

To rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of
the Company’s shares, the Group undergone a group restructuring which
The
financial information of the Group has been prepared as if the group structure
intended under the Reorganisation had always been exist. In connection to the
Reorganisation, merger reserve arose mainly in respect of the followings:

became effective on 20 December 2010 (the “Reorganisation”).

(i) On 16 June 2010 and 20 June 2010 respectively, the Group’s
subsidiary, Powerwell Pacific Limited (“Powerwell Pacific”), issued
752 new shares of United States Dollar (“USD”) 1 each to the founding
shareholders of the Group at the consideration of USD1 each and
issued 44 new shares of USD1 each, representing 5.5% of the enlarged
share capital of Powerwell Pacific, to a party who was then a non-
controlling shareholder of Powerwell Pacific at a consideration of
HK$1,027,000. These have resulted in an increase in equity of the Group
by HK$1,083,000 which was included in merger reserve; and

(ii) The difference between the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Reorganisation over the
nominal value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange for the
subsidiaries.

China Trustful Group Limited R E 2B ER A 7
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Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to be
received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over the
relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised as staff costs and related expenses with a
corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve.

Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation
of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional
currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”))
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange
reserve are reclassified to retained earnings on the disposal of the foreign
operations.

Capital contribution reserve represents the contribution of inventories from
shareholder to the Group.

Under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation,
convertible bonds issued are split into their liability and equity components at
initial recognition by recognising the liability component at its fair value which
is determined using a market interest rate for similar non-convertible debts
and attributing to the equity component the difference between the fair value
of the goods received and the fair value of the liability component. The liability
component is subsequently carried at amortised cost. The equity component
is recognised in the convertible bonds reserve until the convertible bonds are
either converted (in which case it is transferred to share premium) or redeemed
(in which case it is released directly to retained earnings).

Statutory general reserve was established in accordance with the relevant rules
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and regulations and the article
of association of respective companies of the Group. The PRC companies
are required to transfer certain of their net profits, as determined under the
approval by the Board to statutory general reserve.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

# Z2019F 12431 H 1 F &

2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating KETENESR
activities
(Loss)/profit before tax BEiRT (E18) & A
— Continuing operations — BB (102,704) 20,596
— Discontinued operation — DERIEEEET = (4,355)
Adjustment for: TS IEEHFAE:
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 2,280 145
Amortisation of interest in leasehold THE T bR sy
land - 480
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% BEREETE
equipment 25,254 14,410
Finance costs BB AR 358 1,915
Impairment loss recognised in E S EWGIAMMER 2 R EEE
respect of trade receivables - 11,087
Interest revenue FEMA (88) (2,016)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMEEEE
and equipment - 2,135
Written-off of property, plant and Y% - B N 5% il ss
equipment - 242
Others HAth (19,774) -
Operating (loss)/profit before working & E&&EFRTHIKL (B18) %7
capital changes (94,674) 44,639
Change in inventories FEZH 30,926 (41,835)
Change in trade and other B 5 Rk H At FENRIE # )
receivables (38,027) (40,236)
Change in amount due from a B —EREE AR RIBES)
related company 117 (117)
Change in amount due to a director N —BEFHIAE - 9,018
Change in trade and other payables féf%&ﬁi\mfﬁﬁ/ IE@@J 28,377 (100,767)
Change in contract liabilities EHBEZD (1,822) 1,822
Change in amounts due to non- FERT FE R R i 2 SR IR E B
controlling interests (122) 10
Change in amounts due to related FEtRAE AR ZIB B
companies - (7,242)
Cash used in operations LEMAMNIRS (75,225) (134,708)
Tax paid BISETEEL (3,728) (28,011)
Net cash used in operating RETEFMTANESFE
activities (78,953) (162,719)
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Cash flows from investing
activities

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets through profit or loss

Prepayment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash inflow on disposal of
subsidiaries

Interest received

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing
activities

Advance from a director

Repayment to an ex-director

Dividend paid to non-controlling
interests

Proceeds from exercise of share
options

Repayment to a shareholder

Repayment of secured loan

Issue of shares on placement

Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF THE YEAR

Analysis of cash and cash
equivalents
Bank and cash balances

REFBDHNHRDR

BEENEE
BEWE BEMRE

3 B R REATE R
HERA RS 2 SRR
BEWH B R 2 A
HERBARZ RS AFE
B8

BREEBHE (FR) RLFHE
REEDNAL
—BEENBH
ERTF—EAEE

B F IR R 8
SRR B IR

£ RTE
EEAERE

R RTI

EfRFLE

RMETEME (A ReRE

RERRSEENRDFE
FONNRERREEEY

ERHNESRESZEY

RERREEBUIN

RITIIR B AERR

2019 2018

20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TET

(8,036)
(31,5635)
984
3,375
(9,600)

1,020
2,016

(41,776)

30,000

(42,515)
8,775

(5,438)
(15,000)

(807)

(24,485)

(228,980)
293,853

(8,190)

56,683

56,683
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

China Trustful Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability
in Bermuda on 14 June 2010 and its shares are listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock
Exchange”) on 26 January 2011. The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place
of business was Units 2610-2611, 26/F, China Merchants Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong during the year ended 31 December 2019. Subsequent to
end of the reporting period, its principal place of business has
been changed to Flat B, 12/F., 83 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong on 15 January 2020 and Room 8, Flat C, 12/F., Por
Mee Factory Building, 500 Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong on 21 February 2020 respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries (together
with the Company referred to as the “Group”) are the retalil
and wholesale of luxury brand silverware, silver utensils and
luxury goods in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the
“Silverware Business”), and the research and development,
manufacture and sale of rechargeable batteries, electric vehicles
and related products and provision of related services (the
“Electric Vehicle Business”) and provision of marketing and
management services, sales and distribution of energy and
petrochemical related products, including but not limited to,
LNG and LPG products and licensing of petroleum gas stations
(the “Energy and Petrochemicals Business”).

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$104,589,000
and a net cash outflow from operating activities of
approximately HK$78,953,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019 and events after the reporting period
mentioned in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business.
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# Z2019F 12431 H 1 F &
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These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the successful outcome that restructuring plans to improve
its financial position, to provide liquidity and cash flows. The
directors are therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations
and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January
2019. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new
and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years except as stated below.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group has applied the
simplified transition approach and has not restated comparative
amounts for the 2018 reporting period. Right of-use assets will
be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption
(adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses). The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new
leasing rules are therefore recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 January 2019.

Under the simplified transition approach, the associated right-
of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease
liabilities on adoption, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised as
at 1 January 2019.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the
following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

— the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics;

— reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are
onerous;

— the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of
the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; and

— the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend or terminate the
lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract
is, or contains a lease at the date of initial application. Instead,
for contracts entered into before the transition date the Group
relied on its assessment made applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)
4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact
on its results of operations and financial position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise their judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
these consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5
to these consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct
the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
of loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the cost
of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income (for example, equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised on the same basis
as would be required if the previously held equity interest were
disposed of.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in
the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars
(HK$), which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(il

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

China Trustful Group Limited R E 2B ER A 7

4.

FESTBEE)

(c) HENREZEE
FBENEEEBINAREZS
ERZAREEBZXERY
BARARBBAT I ABERER
AZ 258!

() BRERZHBRRNEKRZ
BERBBERZVBAMN
RAPZWHEXRKRE

(i) WARXZHET R FHEX
BE(FRIEZFHERLIF
XZAPEMERZ R
FEZAEEELNE X
BT WARIHERER

SBHHZEXRBE) &
@iy —UIEmEE ZE R ZE
I INEIE H AR
‘zQJ\ )
REGEEREE  RENEINEENK
BFEMBREEREEZER ZRY
RINEE R FEERR RNEEEINE

BR FHRELEZRNGEESR
REEZHBOWREIER -

MR

AEBEIERELECHERAFE
HEDERZBIBERBZEERAE
BRI WiREMEXRBRE -



Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements 5%-33%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Plant and machinery 5%-20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at
cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use
by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

—  Buildings 1-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease
payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the lease
payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value
assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they are available for
use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Licenses
—  Software

10 years
3 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group, the
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is
a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale. It also occurs when the operation is abandoned.
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When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, which comprises:

—  The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

—  The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially
recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs except in the case of investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets
at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following
conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit
losses.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of that financial instrument
(“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade receivables,
or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition.
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If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain
or loss.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments
are set out below.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.

China Trustful Group Limited R E 2B ER A 7

HWRBRERAR TRTAE(EHRIK
RIERR N 215 & R B B 7] 48 7 58 A
KA EANEIEN  AEREEBFHRE
HEEBEONLIBHEERZ S
MITARHEHER T _EARNA G
HENENEHMERCEYEER
BIffEZemIAEZEBEREMS -

BHEEERESRXAFEREHMRK
BEEREEMFSCEMEREESETD
REBEER RBERDSOREEE -

RIRERERME B NREFE
MIERTETFERERE FRETAHE
MERERBZEREFR RABKE
BMREMBRERcBETESERERE
PERcEBSERBRE  ARE
KEERAAEEREEEEAXE D
ZRITBEXNFAARE MRS EEY -

CRABNMESZIADREMRIILZE
ML ZEERRBEREERBREE
AN emBERESTAZERMD
B-RaTAREALRNKENKRAE
BERREENGBER ZERNALD -
TXHEIEFEERABEREGETA
Rz ETHER -

EREERFEARAEERHKAN
BB ER HRRAERNXER
BHK A E -

BREAEEERERTKABEE
BERERESHBRKRL +—@EA

BRERDERRBAE -



Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws
that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be
satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation
is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the product or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that
are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against
any unamortised deferred income set up in respect of the grant.
To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred
income, or where no deferred income exists, the repayment
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Repayment of a
grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying
amount of the asset or reducing the deferred income by the
amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that
would have been recognised in profit or loss to date in the
absence of the grant is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group
if any of the following conditions applies:

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ily is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
deferred tax assets, inventories and receivables to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the successful outcome that restructuring plans to improve its
financial position, to provide liquidity and cash flows. Details
are explained in note 2 to consolidated financial statements.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values
are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than expected
or there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of estimated future
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
the trade and other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year
in which such estimate has been changed. If the financial
conditions of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling products
of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in customer taste and competitor actions.
The Group will reassess the estimates by the end of each
reporting period.
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of
the Group’s entities. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balance and
trade and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposure to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

K%IZ%%%%XE%@HA'?I\
M{H ;fﬁ A‘//m%ﬂﬁiﬂ
MEXER AEBEEBOERR I%aJr
%\Jﬁﬁimﬁlm%EﬁT—Hﬁiﬁli H3K
WMAOHAREETBERROEE TN
2 o

Y
&

HRABNDERERS  BEMA
BEZUAEEERBNDEMNLE
BEHE  MAKEARELDHI
R e o AN E IR I A RSN
KRH BERBENINE L H
BR - NREES T EEEIINE
Rl IREFEREELH TE
RN -

FTAERE B S AR R R A IR 17 3R
cES BHRHMEKRZKRERN
EHEEASEAZEEASE
TRHEENEREERR - &
BEEHEEERREEHE
ErZEEERRKRAMA o

HERRXZEFLEBREEFR
BEERSEEFMRNRT &
RekfTEBNEERRE
BR -

EHEBRRNERTDEBAER
ERENEPETHE

ANNuUAL REPORT F 3R



6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual
payment. A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 60
days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 365 days
past due. Where loans or receivables have been written
off, the Group, if practicable